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Mr G Durham 
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742222 
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12 September 2008 

 
 
 
 
Dear Sir/Madam 
 

A meeting of the CONSERVATION ADVISORY WORKING PARTY will be held in 

COMMITTEE ROOM 1, CIVIC OFFICES, MERRIAL STREET, NEWCASTLE on 

THURSDAY, 25 SEPTEMBER 2008 at 7.00pm. 
 

AGENDA 

 
1. To receive Declarations of Interest from Members on items included in this 

agenda. 

2. Minutes of meeting held on 2 September 2008 (copy attached for non-Council 
Members information. 

3. To consider the attached reports at Appendix A and B (blue and salmon paper). 

4. To consider any applications for financial assistance from the Conservation and 
Heritage Fund which may have been brought to this meeting by the Officer. 

5. To consider any business which is urgent within the meaning of Section 100B(4) 
of the Local Government Act 1972. 

 
Yours faithfully 

 

A CAMPBELL 

 
Democratic Services Manager

To the Chair and Members 

 

of the 

 

CONSERVATION ADVISORY 

WORKING PARTY 



DECISIONS OF THE BOROUGH COUNCIL ON APPLICATIONS WHICH  

HAVE PREVIOUSLY BEEN CONSIDERED BY THE WORKING PARTY 
 

For reports on all committee decisions, please follow the minutes and agendas search on the Council’s website or refer to your copy of the 
Planning agenda for the permitted date.  Reports for delegated items are attached to the agenda (pink paper). 
 

Reference Location and Applicant Development Working Party Comments Planning Decision and 

Comments made with regard to  

Conservation Areas 

 

08/360/FUL Land adjoining Bridge Farm, 
London Road, Knighton. 
Nuon UK Ltd. 

Vehicular access and estate track 
in association with adjoining Wind 
Farm development off Poplar Lane, 
Bearstone. 
 

No comments Refused by Planning Committee 
19/8/08 

08/831/EIA Lower Farm, Bearstone, 
Market Drayton. 
Nuon UK Ltd. 

Wind Farm including seven turbines 
ancillary buildings and estate road 
(Consultation with North Shropshire 
District Council). 

The Conservation Advisory Working 
Party had deep concerns regarding the 
proximity and scale of these turbines.  
They would be visually detrimental to the 
character and setting of the Listed 
Buildings in Knighton.  Furthermore, the 
‘flickering’ effect of the rotating blades 
would become intolerable and be 
harmful to the landscape of this historic 
rural town. 
 

Consultation with North Shropshire 
District Council. 
 
Planning Committee (19/08/08) 
strongly objected to this proposal. 

08/557/FUL The Old Wood.  Betley Hall 
Gardens, Betley. 
Mr J Williams. 
 

Construction of a one and a half 
storey, two bedroom lakeside guest 
annexe. 

No objections.  Members felt that the 
scheme fitted in with the existing 
building. 

Application withdrawn. 

08/581/FUL Clayton Hall Business & 
Language College, Clayton 
Lane, Newcastle. 
Mr S Meys. 
 

Modular double classroom block. No objections. Permitted by Planning Committee 
19/08/08. 

 

APPENDIX ‘A’ 
(Blue Paper 



APPENDIX ‘B’ 
(Salmon Paper) 
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Reference Location and Applicant Development Remarks Ward Councillors 

08/00550/FUL Maer Hills, Nantwich Road, 
Blackbrook. 
Claymoss Properties Limited. 
 
**NOTE** PLEASE REFER TO 
REGISTER ENTRY ATTACHED TO 
THIS AGENDA ON YELLOW PAPER 
 

Development of four three-bladed horizontal 
axis wind turbines, each to a maximum height 
of 125 metres to blade tip and maximum height 
of 80 metres to hub, together with site access, 
access tracks, borrow pit, cable route, crane 
hard standing areas, temporary construction 
compound, sub-station and control room 
building and visitor car park. 

Proposal may affect setting 
of Grade II Maer Hall 
Parkland (Register entry 
attached). 

Councillor P Maskery 
Councillor Mrs F Myatt  
Councillor B Tomkins 

08/688/FUL 13 Barracks Road, Newcastle. 
Mr R Moore. 
 

Two storey rear extension. Proposal may affect the 
setting of a Listed Building 
(The Barracks). 
 

Councillor D Clarke 
Councillor Mrs E Shenton 

08/720/COU Boughey Hall, Nantwich Road, 
Audley. 
Paul Ball. 
 

Change of use from function room to activity 
centre. 

Within the Audley 
Conservation Area. 

Councillor Mrs A Beech 
Councillor Mrs D Cornes 
Councillor I Wilkes 

08/00722/FUL Park Manor, Butterton Road, 
Butterton. 
Dr Manoj Popat. 
 

Retrospective boundary walling and new 
entrance gates, alterations to vehicular and 
pedestrian accesses. 

Affects the setting of the 
Butterton Conservation 
Area.  May also affect the 
setting of a Listed Building. 
 

Councillor P Maskery 
Councillor Mrs F Myatt  
Councillor B Tomkins 

08/726/FUL & 
08/727/LBC  

Black Horse House, Main road, 
Betley. 
Mr & Mrs C King. 
 

Ground floor rear extension and installation of 
two rear roof lights. 

Within the Betley 
Conservation area and a 
Listed Building. 

Councillor D Becket 
Councillor A Wemyss 

08/738/LBC Harecastle Farm Beefeater, 
Newcastle Road, Talke. 
Mitchells & Butlers Retail Ltd. 
 

Installation of new kitchen ventilation system. Development affects a 
Grade II Listed Building. 

Councillor N Jones 
Councillor R Slater 

 



Site Ref No: 2256 
 

Name: Maer Hall 
 

Site Description: Summary of Historic Interest 
 
Park laid out, primarily in the first decade of the C19, by John Webb.  The park, incorporating 
pleasure grounds dating from the early C18, forms the setting for a country house. 
 

Historic Development 
 
The Maer estate was sold in 1693 by Ralph Macclesfield to Capt John Chetwynd.  From the 
Chetwynd family Maer passed to the Talbots; they retained it until 1802 when it was purchased 
by Josiah Wedgwood, second son of Josiah Wedgwood, master potter.  In 1805 he brought in 
John Webb (1754-1828) whose plans led to the landscaping of the Hall’s grounds.  The 
younger Wedgwood was uncle to Charles Darwin who visited many times in the early 1830s 
and who married Wedgwood’s daughter (that is, Darwin’s cousin), Emma, in 1839.  On 
Wedgwood’s death in 1843, the estate was sold to William Davenport, the Burslem pottery 
manufacturer. Frederick James Harrison, a Liverpool ship owner, purchased Maer early in the 
C20 after Davenport’s bankruptcy and, in 1910, employed Thomas H Mawson (1861-1933) for 
help with the gardens.  Mawson recommended a scheme of formal terrace gardens with distant 
planting to frame the views, but the work was not carried out.  After Harrison’s death the Hall 
was occupied, until the second’s death in 1963, by his two daughters.  Ownership later passed 
to the Tellwright family and it was during their time, in the 1960s, that a substantial proportion 
of the house was demolished.  The estate remains (1999) in private hands. 
 

Description 
 

Location, Area, Boundaries, Landform, Setting 
 
Maer Hall stands at the eastern end of a flat-bottomed valley draining to the west through Maer 
Moss which adjoins the park to the west.  The stream out of Maer Pool, the main feature of the 
park, is the headwater of the River Tern.  The area here registered is c 70ha. 
 

Entrance and Approaches 
 
The main approach to the site is that to the north, laid out in the late C19, but in accordance 
with advice provided by John Webb in the early C19.  It starts at the single-storey stone lodge 
(listed grade II) on the A51 which forms the northern boundary of the site, from here passing 
south through wing walls to Knight’s Wood, then across the park, to arrive at the north-west 
front of the Hall (listed grade II). South-east of the Hall stands the Clocktower gatehouse (listed 
grade II*) providing the entrance from the village of Maer. 
 

Principal Building 
 
Maer Hall (listed grade II) is a coursed ashlar building of the late C17.  It was greatly enlarged 
in the mid C19 by William Davenport using the architects William Culshaw and Francis Doyle, 
but in the 1960s the Hall was reduced to its C17 extent.  The stable block (listed grade II) and 
outbuildings (listed grade II) stand to the south-west on what was formerly the southern end of 
the early C18 gardens. 
 

Gardens and Pleasure Grounds 
 
The earliest known mention of gardens at Maer Hall is that in Robert Plot’s Natural History of 
Staffordshire (1686) which mentions topiary.  The original front door of the Jacobean house 



now looks over lawns, dotted with specimen trees, which lie to the south-west.  On an axis to 
the Hall is a recently (late C20) erected stone plant container which stands on a sundial base.  
The south-western edge of the lawns is marked by a length of balustrading (listed grade II) 
70m west from the Hall which reflects the extent of the early C18 gardens.  This feature was 
probably added for Davenport in the mid C19 and appears to be modelled on that at Haddon 
Hall (Derbys, qv). 
 
To the north of the Hall is an area of lawn, which, in the early C18, was the site of a wilderness.  
Laid out in a star-pattern, the design extended from the present drive east to land which is now 
on the other side of the public road. It was cleared during the course of the early C19 
alterations. 
 
A straight, stone-edged path runs north-west from the Hall to a flight of steps which lead, via a 
bridge over the public road, to an area of pleasure grounds.  The road is sunk in a deep cutting 
with stone revetments (listed grade II) to either side.  The path meets with a gravel terrace, at 
the southern end of which is a gate into the churchyard of St Peter’s. This terrace marks the 
former western edge of a second early C18 wilderness. Cut into the hillside above the terrace 
are walks laid out in diagonal pattern, the presence of mature yews suggesting that these 
might once have been yew-hedged.  The paths lead to an upper terrace at the centre of which 
is a semicircular bastion ringed by a planting of mature yews.  To the north-east of the walks is 
a piece of woodland named The Thickets. Webb suggested modifications to this upper 
wilderness but his proposals were not implemented. 
 

Park 
 
Maer Hall stands at the east end of a park which extends c 1km west of it and is c 500m wide. 
Maer Pool, its main feature, was originally a natural mere.  Webb suggested that its level be 
raised, and a dam and sluice were constructed which increased the area of water from 6 to 
9ha, much of the additional area being in front of the Hall.  He advised a small adjustment of 
the line of Moss Lane, the public road diverted from the western corner of Hogshead Wood 
south so that it entered the village through the southern end along its present route.  Due to 
silting, the area of the Pool has been reduced to 6ha with the result that the C19 boathouse 
100m west of the Hall is now divorced from the water. 
 
South-west of the Hall, four sets of steps lead down from the balustrade to join with walks 
round the Pool.  From the steps at the southern end, a straight path extends to the south, to 
the area north of the kitchen garden where there is a small rockery (Jacques reported that in 
1979 an old gardener called this the ‘elephant’s grave’) beyond which is an avenue of Irish 
yews.  The path continues to Hogshead Wood, at the northern corner of which is the remains 
of an icehouse. It then passes through Pool End Wood on the north shore of the Pool to Bath 
Wood (which name suggests the location of a plunge pool) on the Pool’s north-east shore, and 
so back to the balustrade and Hall lawn.  Many of the park woodlands were planted according 
to Webb’s recommendations. 
 
Beyond the Pool, to the north and north-west, is an area of parkland within which Nursery 
Wood is situated.  South of the Wood lies an area which formerly formed part of an extensive 
bog, Maer Moss.  The land rises south of this to a strip of woodland, The Ridding, planted on 
the southern boundary of the site.  A spring with accompanying pumphouse and pool form a 
feature near the base of the slope, and the line of the old public highway to the village, the 
continuation of Moss Lane, survives as a grassy track across the park, running through 
Hogshead Wood and along the southern edge of the mere. 
 
In the park east of the drive is a cricket pitch and pavilion, added in the late C19. 
 



Opposite the north lodge, on the far side of the A51, is Berth Hill, on the summit of which are 
the earthworks of a hillfort (scheduled ancient monument).  After Webb put forward proposals 
for the planting of the southern slopes of the Hill, then part of the Maer estate, the Hill was 
brought into the ornamental landscape, with paths, platforms for seats, a small grotto facing 
towards the park carrying the date 1824, and some early C19 plantings.  On the eastern side of 
the Hill is a spring from which water was piped by Wedgwood to Maer Hall and the village, 
using a terraced aqueduct. 
 
Maer’s park and gardens are largely the result of improvements carried out after Josiah 
Wedgwood called in John Webb in 1805 to advise.  Webb produced a plan of Maer showing an 
ambitious scheme of road diversions, drawn up and given consent in 1807. Prior to 
Wedgwood’s alterations, the road from the village continued north-west below the western 
edge of the Hall’s gardens, along the shore of the mere, joining the London to Chester road at 
what is now the north-west corner of the park.  In accordance with Webb’s recommendations, 
the road to the west of the Hall was moved eastwards to the steeply rising ground behind, the 
change allowing the laying out of the north drive through newly created parkland, and 
increasing the extent of the park to the north and west of the mere.  A map of the parish of 
1809 shows the changes to the roads as already in place. 
 

Kitchen Garden 
 
A detached house and a bungalow have been erected (late C20) in this area.  Before 1805 the 
kitchen garden lay on the south-west facing slope adjacent to The Thickets. Moving Moss Lane 
southwards enabled the slopes above the Pool to be incorporated into the park, which in turn 
enabled a new kitchen garden, with an extensive range of glass, to be built near the stables, 
200m south-west of the Hall. 
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